THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.
Circuit Court Case No.: 2007-CP-40-03365
Appellant Case No. 2014-001373

RECEIVED

DEC 09 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Edward Mims, by and through his legal
guardian, Margaret Mims,
Appellant

vs.

Babcock Center, Inc., Judy Johnson, the
South Carolina Department of Disabilities
and Special Needs, Kathi Lacy and Stan
Butkus,
Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Patricia Logan Harrison, Esquire
611 Holly Street
Columbia, Sc 29205
803-256-2017
Attorney for Appellant

Christian Stegmaier, Esquire
Collins & Lacy, P.C.
PO Box 12487
Columbia, SC29211
803-256-2660

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Issue 1.** The lower court erred in its determination that Mims' claims are barred by the statute of limitations, because (a) Mims was first adjudicated to be incompetent in 2001, not in 2005; (b) South Carolina Code of Laws § 15-3-40 tolls the statute of limitations for five years due to Mims' disability; (c) the 2008 amended complaint relates back to the date the original complaint; (d) Mims alleged wrongful acts which fell within the statute of limitations, even without tolling; (e) the Babcock Center and the individual defendants are not entitled to the protections of the Tort Claims Act; and (f) the doctrine of equitable tolling applies due to the bad acts of the defendants.
- Issue 2.** The lower court erred in failing to consider facts and events which occurred before the start of the time period covered by the tolling statute and the statute of limitations, as the Supreme Court required in *Madison v. Babcock Center*.
- Issue 3.** The lower court erred in dismissing Mims' complaints for violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983 of the Civil Rights Act, because Mims provided material facts showing that the defendants violated his civil and Constitutional rights.
- Issue 4.** The lower court err as a matter of law in dismissing Mims' claims for negligent supervision, negligence and gross negligence.
- Issue 5.** The lower court erred in dismissing Mims' claims for violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Rehabilitation Act based on a one year statute of limitations and because Mims met his *prima facie* burden and the defendants failed to prove that providing the services he needs to live in the least restrictive setting would require a fundamental alteration in the State's system.

IV.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center*, 638 S.E.2d 650, 655, 371 S.C. 123 (S.C., 2006). The trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable

inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Id. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy which should not be invoked without caution to improperly deny a litigant a trial. Id. The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). Where a case raises novel questions of law, the appellate court is free to decide those questions with no particular deference to the lower court. *Madison* at 656.

V.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff's claims. This is an appeal of the lower court's May 29, 2014 order granting defendants' motions for summary judgment and dismissing Mims' lawsuit for the second time, without providing a hearing on Mims' pending motions. Mims has alleged in Count One that the individual defendants violated Mims' rights under § 1983; in Count Three, Mims alleged that defendants were negligent, negligent in failing to (1) provide supervision and to monitor Mims' treatment needs, (2) provide adequate staffing, (3) investigate reports of abuse, neglect and exploitation, and (4) to discharge Appellant from an unsafe and highly restrictive institution. Mims alleged that defendants violated his rights by intentionally obstructing his discharge from the Babcock Center and obstructing the proceedings in the Probate Court for improper personal reasons. In Count Four, Mims complained that defendants violated the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Rehabilitation Act and that these violations are ongoing, they are subject to repetition and they have evaded review.¹

¹ Mims has elected not to pursue the cause of action for conspiracy and unjust enrichment in this appeal, in order to better focus on the § 1983, negligence/negligent supervision, statute of

The lower court's decision. In relevant part, the lower court found that Mims's § 1983 claims were barred by the statute of limitations, that the defendants had no personal involvement in the alleged wrongful acts and that Mims has suffered no injury. The trial court ruled that claims for negligent supervision are barred by a two year statute of limitations under the Tort Claims Act, which also protect the Babcock Center defendants. The lower court ruled that claims for violation of the Americans with Disabilities (ADA) became moot in 2006 and that those claims are barred by a one year statute of limitations. Finally, the court held that claims against the DDSN defendants went "beyond the scope of the pleadings" and were "vaguely asserted."

History of the case. This case was commenced by the filing of the original complaint on May 29, 2007, naming the Babcock Center, Judy Johnson and other Babcock defendants, Stanley Butkus, and the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) as defendants. On May 7, 2008, Mims filed an Amended Complaint, substituting the Associate State Director of DDSN, Kathi Lacy, as a defendant for other individuals who were named in the original complaint and substituting DDSN for DHHS. R. ____.

The Richland County Court of Common Pleas first denied, then later granted defendants' motions to dismiss, as set forth in *Mims v. Babcock Center*, 399 S.C. 341, 732 S.E.2d 395 (2012). On appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court certified Mims' case to be heard under

limitations and ADA issues. Mims is a member of a class of persons who have experienced discrimination due to their disabilities, thus meeting the discriminatory animus test. In *People by Abrams v. 11 Cornwell Co*, the State contended, without opposition, that the mentally retarded are a class protected by § 1985(3). 695 F.2d 34, 42 (C.A.2 1982), rev'd on other grounds 1718 F.2d 22 (2d Cir. 1983). The term "mentally retarded" has been replaced in federal and state statutes with "intellectually disabled," however, it is used in this brief for consistency with the prior proceedings and the language used in references cited herein. It has the same meaning as the term "intellectually disabled."

Rule 204 of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Supreme Court ruled that the amended complaint was properly filed pursuant to Rule 15, SCRPC, because the 120 day period applies only when the service occurs outside of the statute of limitations,”² and remanded Mims’s case back to the Richland County Court of Common Pleas for trial. Id.

On remand, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment, on April 12 and 23, 2013. R. _____. Mims filed a motion for summary judgment on May 24, 2013. But, Judge Manning, the Administrative Judge for Richland County, only scheduled the defendants’ motions to be heard, and no hearing has been granted on any of plaintiff’s motions.³ When Mims’ counsel asked at the hearing on June 4, 2013 that his motions be heard (T. 3:2), the Court was not even aware that Mims had filed a motion for summary judgment, yet it still failed to consider or rule upon Mims’ motion - although it required Mims counsel to spend time preparing a proposed order. T. at 32, line 17, Order directing counsel to prepare proposed orders. (Mims

² Judge Kittredge ruled in his concurring opinion that: “Because that complaint was filed and served within the statute of limitations, dismissal is not warranted.” Id. at 398. Even the one dissenting Justice found that Mims’ amended complaint was served before the expiration of the statute of limitations. (Emphasis added.) Id. at 399.

³ Judge Manning formerly worked at the Babcock Center and the record contains evidence of his fondness for the private corporation. Mims’ Motion to Recuse with Attachments and Mims 2258. Mims filed a motion requesting recusal of Judge Manning, but no hearing was scheduled on his motion. At the first hearing scheduled on defendants’ motion to dismiss, Mims’ counsel asked Judge Manning to recuse himself, based on his relationship with the Babcock Center. R. _____. Motion to Recuse with attachments and transcript of hearing where Judge Manning recused himself from the bench. Judge Manning agreed from the bench to recuse himself, but, when the order was filed with the Clerk of Court, the word “recusal” was whited out, and overwritten with the word “continuance.” R. _____. Plaintiff had not filed a motion or requested a continuance when this order was issued. After remand, despite having recused himself from the bench Judge Manning “put pressure” on Mims’ counsel to withdraw his motion requesting his recusal. T. 5:16. As the Administrative Judge for Richland County, Judge Manning had continued to control the course of Mims’ lawsuit in violation of his due process rights.

incorporated by reference in his motion opposing defendants' motions for summary judgment the six volumes of evidence discussed at the June 4, 2014 hearing. T. 20:2. DDSN's counsel, Ken Woodington, informed the court at the hearing held on June 4, 2013, that he had asked Judge Manning, a former employee of the Babcock Center who has expressed his fondness in open court for that corporation, not to schedule a hearing on Mims' motion for summary judgment. T. at 32:25. (Mims' counsel was not a part of and was not informed of this communication with Judge Manning prior to the hearing.) As directed by the trial judge, all parties filed proposed orders on July 19, 2013, after the June 4, 2014 hearing. R. _____. On January 21, 2014, the trial court signed the orders that had been prepared by the defendants, verbatim, granting summary judgment to defendants and dismissing Mims' case for the second time, without hearing or considering Mims' timely filed motion for summary judgment or, apparently reading Mims' proposed order. R. _____. Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend on February 4, 2014, which was denied by the trial court on May 29, 2014. R. _____. This appeal was timely filed by Appellant in the Court of Appeals on June 24, 2014.

VI.

ARGUMENTS

Issue 1. The lower court erred in its determination that Mims' claims are barred by the statute of limitations, because (a) Mims was first adjudicated to be incompetent in 2001, not in 2005; (b) South Carolina Code of Laws § 15-3-40 tolls the statute of limitations for five years due to Mims' disability; (c) the 2008 amended complaint relates back to the date the original complaint; (d) some of the wrongful acts fell within the statute of limitations, even without tolling; (e) the Babcock Center and the individual defendants are not entitled to the protections of the Tort Claims Act; and (f) the doctrine of equitable tolling applies due to the bad acts of the defendants.

(a) Mims was first adjudicated to be incompetent in 2001, not in 2005. The lower court erred in its determination that "while the Plaintiff may have been profoundly mentally retarded, it

is clear that he was not actually adjudicated to be incapacitated until the Probate Court order of June 14, 2005.” DDSN Order at 25. The defendants themselves caused Mims to be adjudicated to be incapacitated in 2001, for the express purpose of preventing his release from the Babcock Center. DDSN Order at 25 and Babcock Center Order at 20. The lower court erred as a matter of law in ignoring the Probate Court’s 2001 determination of incapacity, which defendants themselves procured in bad faith, by falsely accusing Mims’ mother of abusing him to cover up their own horrific abuses, which continued even after defendant Buttkus became the sole individual for determining his placement. Mims 2047 and 2050. Plaintiff’s Objection to Summary Judgment and Motion to Strike at page 30.

(b) South Carolina Code of Laws § 15-3-40 tolls the statute of limitations for five years due to Mims’ disability. The only question remaining that is related to the tolling statute is how far back the period covered by the statute of limitations extends pursuant to South Carolina Code of Laws § 15-3-40 (the state “tolling statute”). The lower court erred in finding that the lawsuit was not timely filed, because the statute of limitations is extended for five years due to the state tolling statute. In *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Services, Inc.*, the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized that: “‘Tolling’ refers to suspending or stopping the running of a statute of limitations; it is analogous to a clock stopping, then restarting.” 51 Am. Jur. 2d Limitation of Actions § 169 (2000). 687 S.E.2d 29, 32, 386 S.C. 108 (2009). “Tolling may either temporarily suspend the running of the limitations period or delay the start of the limitations period.” *Id.* There is nothing in South Carolina’s tolling statute that requires an adjudication of incompetence to start of the tolling period under South Carolina Code § 15-3-40. A party must be able to demonstrate that he qualifies for the exemption, which Mims has done. *Medlin v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut.*

Ins. Co., 325 S.C. 195, 196, 480 S.E.2d 739 (1996). The lower court's finding that Mims was not adjudicated to be incompetent until 2005, thus he not entitled to tolling prior to that date, is simply not supported by even a scintilla of evidence in the record or by any controlling legal authority, and the defendant's petition and the 2001 Probate Court order prove that he is entitled to tolling under the statute. Mims 28 and 32, 2047, 2050.

The trial court also erred in its ruling that Mims was not "insane" based on its adoption of the defendants' interpretation of "the mentally retarded person bill of rights (which) says that a mentally disabled person has all the rights a citizen to do anything until he's declared incompetent." In *Madison v. Babcock Center*,⁴ the Supreme Court flatly rejected the same argument made by these same defendants in another case where a Babcock Center client alleged that DDSN and the Babcock Center failed to protect her from sexual assault:

We further agree with Appellant that the circuit court erred in reasoning she was competent to make her own decisions — such as leaving the Babcock Center home — because she was not adjudicated incompetent to handle her personal and financial affairs until some two years after the events of August 1995. The circuit court relied on S.C.Code Ann. § 44-26-90 (2002), which provides that unless a client has been adjudicated incompetent, she must not be denied the right to, among other things, execute instruments, enter into contractual relationships, and exercise rights of citizenship in the same manner as a non-disabled person.

Id. at 287. Judicial resources have been wasted by these arguments that have already been decided by South Carolina's highest court. At all times since his birth, Mims has been "insane," as defined by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Wiggins v. Edwards*:

⁴ In *Madison*, Judge Manning dismissed Madison's lawsuit brought against Judge Manning's former employer, the Babcock Center. (*R. ___*, *Madison v. Babcock Center*, Richland County Court of Common Pleas Order granting summary judgment to defendants). Then Madison's case was settled on remand by a guardian ad litem appointed on motion of defendants, over the objections of Madison's court-appointed guardian. (*R. ___*, *___ and ___ Madison v. Babcock Center* orders appointing GAL and orders settling lawsuit.)

Insanity or mental incompetency that tolls the statute of limitations consists of a mental condition which precludes understanding the nature or effects of one's acts, an incapacity to manage one's affairs, an inability to understand or protect one's rights, because of an over-all inability to function in society, or the mental condition is such as to require care in a hospital. 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Actions § 117 at 159-169 (internal footnotes omitted).

442 S.E.2d 169, 170, 314 S.C. 126 (1994). DDSN took affirmative steps in 2001 to have Mims adjudicated incompetent, informing the Probate Court during those proceedings that "Mr. Mims is 29 years old and profoundly retarded." Mims 2047. The DDSN psychologist reported to the Probate Court that Mims could not be left alone and that "he is on one-on-one care at Clusters." Mims 2107 and 2088. See also Mims 2076. DDSN informed the Probate Court that Mims was nonverbal and that he had the mental age of a two year old child. Mims 2107. The lower court's finding that Mims was not "insane" is not supported by any facts in the record and it should be reversed, because Mims meets the *Wiggins* criteria.

The lower court also erred as a matter of law in failing to recognize that the South Carolina Supreme Court found in *Harrison v. Bevilacqua* that:

...an insane plaintiff would apparently have seven years from discovery to bring a negligence action under the Tort Claims Act. See §§ 15-78-110, 15-3-40; see also *Fricks v. Lewis*, 26 S.C. 237, 1 S.E. 884 (1887).

354 S.C. 129, 134, 580 S.E.2d 109 (S.C. 2003). Representing the South Carolina Department of Mental Health, in *Harrison*, Attorney Davidson⁵ moved for summary judgment prior to trial, arguing that McLean's lawsuit was time-barred, because the alleged violations began in 1983 (when McLean had been determined to be incompetent and involuntarily committed), but his

⁵ Attorney Woodington informed the trial judge that Attorney Davidson appeared at the hearing in the lower court on June 4, 2005 (at taxpayer expense) as "Window dressing. Just simply for appearance."

lawsuit was not filed until 1995. *Id.* at 132. The trial court erroneously ruled that the tolling provisions of South Carolina Code § 15-3-40 provided McLean five years to bring his claims under the Tort Claims Act. The Supreme Court corrected this error. S.C. Code of Laws § 15-3-40. In footnote 5 in that case, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that:

We disagree with the Court of Appeals' interpretation of section 15-3-40. The express language of the statute allows the time for commencement of an action to be "extended" by a maximum of five years.

Id. Thus, Mims is entitled to an additional five years under the state tolling statute, due to his inability to understand and to protect his own rights and his over-all inability to function in society. *Harrison, supra* and *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170, 314 S.C. 126 (1994), citing 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Actions § 117 at 159-169. Affirming the lower Court's adoption of the minority ruling on tolling would contradict the "express language of the statute" and the "clear legislative intent" of the General Assembly.

This Court should not affirm the lower court's ruling in this case, because even the out-of-state cases provided by defendants in their proposed order (which were signed by the trial judge without any changes. R. ___ Proposed orders presented by defendants. do not support the termination of the tolling period upon the appointment of a guardian in a case such as Mims'. Those cases from New Hampshire, North Carolina and New York are clearly distinguishable. *Stewart v. Robinson* is a federal district court case from New Hampshire in which Judge Steven McAuliffe recognized that the Supreme Court of New Hampshire "has yet to confront the issue" of whether the appointment of a guardian terminates the tolling statute. 115 F. Supp.2d 188, 194 (D.N.H. 2000). Federal district court Judge McAuliffe presumed, without certifying the question to his state's highest court, that the New Hampshire Supreme Court "would interpret the statute

in a manner consistent with what is currently the minority, but the more sensible view.” Taking a “predictive approach” to how he believed the State’s highest court should rule, Judge McAuliffe ruled that because a court-appointed guardian “was vested not only with the right, but the obligation to bring the present civil action” the appointment of a guardian ended the tolling of the statute of limitations. *Id.* at 195. This ruling, placing such obligation on a court-appointed guardian, contradicts prior rulings of New Hampshire’s highest court.⁶ In *Coffey v. Bresnahan*, the New Hampshire Supreme Court ruled that equity and justice require the extension of the statute in cases involving persons under a disability. 127 N.H. 687, 506 A.2d 310 (1986).

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