THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

JAN 20 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No. 2007-CP-40-3365  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001373

Edward Mims, by and through his legal guardian,  
Margaret Mims, ..... Appellant,

v.

Babcock Center, Inc., Judy Johnson, the South Carolina  
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,  
Kathi Lacy, and Stan Butkus, ..... Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS DDSN, LACY AND BUTKUS**

KENNETH P. WOODINGTON  
WILLIAM H. DAVIDSON, II  
DAVIDSON & LINDEMANN, P.A.  
1611 Devonshire Drive - Second Floor  
Post Office Box 8568

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

**a. For purposes of the statute of limitations, this case was commenced on May 12, 2008, the date of the service of the Summons and Amended Complaint.**

The first issue to be determined in considering the limitations issues is whether this action was commenced on May 29, 2007, when the original, never-served,

---

<sup>21</sup> In addition, it should be noted that an ADA claim based on a denial of services is not ripe for adjudication until the appropriate agency has denied a request for services. *See, e.g., Peter B. v. Buscemi*, 2013 WL 869607, at \*10 (D.S.C. 2013)(ADA claim unripe when final decision of ineligibility was still pending). No suggestion was made that there was an agency denial of services other than the one in 2005 that was reversed.

<sup>22</sup> Plaintiff concedes (Br. of Appellant at 16 n. 8) that even if all of Plaintiff's arguments about the statute of limitations were to be accepted, anything prior to May 29, 2000, is time-barred.

Complaint was filed, or whether it commenced on May 12, 2008, when the second Summons and attached Amended Complaint were served. As the court below held, *S.C. Code Ann.* § 15-3-20(B) provides that “[a] civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if actual service is accomplished within one hundred twenty days after filing.” R. \_\_\_ [Order 18-19] Rule 3, SCRCP, is in accord. The court below further held that the complete absence of service of the 2007 Summons and Complaint meant that this suit could not be deemed to have commenced any earlier than the date the Plaintiff first filed the Amended Complaint, which was May 7, 2008. *Id.*

On appeal, Plaintiff does not mention or directly challenge this conclusion, although Plaintiff does claim that the “amended complaint relates back to the filing of the amended complaint.” Br. of Appellant at 15. The only authority cited for this argument is *Thomas v. Grayson*, 318 S.C. 82, 456 S.E.2d 377 (1995). However, in that case, the original complaint had been duly served and answered prior to service of the Amended Complaint, so that case is not relevant to the issue of whether an unserved complaint commences an action for purposes of the statute. Section § 15-3-20(B) makes it clear that an action is commenced only by filing plus service of the Summons and Complaint. In this case, service did not occur until May 12, 2008, when the Summons was served for the first time, along with the Amended Complaint. Accordingly, that 2008 date will be considered the date

on which this action was commenced for purposes of the statute of limitations.

**b. No tolling of the statutes of limitations occurred until Plaintiff was adjudicated to be incapacitated in June 2005.**

Plaintiff has sought to rely on the tolling provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40(2). The court below held that S. C. Code Ann. § 44-26-90 provides that a mentally retarded person has all the rights of citizenship unless and until the person is adjudicated to be incompetent and that Plaintiff was not so adjudicated until June 2005. R. \_\_\_[Order at 25-26] Plaintiff argues that this issue was decided unfavorably to Defendants' position in *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 638 S.E.2d 650 (2006). However, the holding of that case was that the action had been filed within two years of the events in question, so there was no issue of tolling to be decided in that case. Plaintiff also cites *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 442 S.E.2d 169 (1994), which discussed the general rule as to the standard for insanity under tolling statutes, but did not find the plaintiff "insane," and therefore did not address Section 44-26-90's requirement that there be an adjudication of incompetence. Finally, Plaintiff cites language in *Harrison v. Bevilacqua*, 354 S.C. 129, 580 S.E.2d 109 (2003), but that case also did not involve § 44-26-90.

Plaintiff also erroneously contends that he was adjudicated to be incapacitated in 2001 in the Consent Order issued by the Probate Court in that year. Br. of Appellant at 6. However, while the 2001 Consent Order made reference

to his mental retardation, it did not make an adjudication of incapacity, as § 44-26-90 expressly requires. The 2005 Probate Court Order, on the other hand, does contain the requisite finding, specifically holding that “Edward Mims is incapacitated. . . ,” and appointing a guardian for him for the first time. R. \_\_.

As the circuit court held, quoting *Stephens v. Draffin*, 327 S.C. 1, 5, 488 S.E.2d 307, 309 (1997), “[a] cause of action accrues at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it.” R. 26. As applied in this case, this rule means that Plaintiff’s causes of action accrued as they occurred. The lower court therefore concluded that “[b]ecause the Plaintiff had not been adjudicated incompetent at the time that the allegations contained within his Complaint arose, he is not entitled to the tolling provision of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40(2), and the applicable statutes of limitations bar all of the Plaintiff’s claims other than the claims brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 involving the unexplained injury discovered on May 27, 2005 and the alleged detention on June 10, 2005” [the latter claim has been abandoned]. R. \_\_ [Order at 26]

- c. **Alternatively, the appointment of a guardian in June 2005 ended any tolling that occurred under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40(2).**

The court below alternatively held that the appointment of a guardian terminated the disability period, leaving the guardian with one more year in which to file an action, that is, until June 2006 for any claims for which the applicable

statute would otherwise have run. R. \_\_\_ [Order 26-28]. Section § 15-3-40(2) provides that the tolling period “cannot be extended (a) more than five years by any such disability, except infancy; nor (b) in any case longer than one year after the disability ceases.”

The circuit court recognized that courts have taken differing views on this issue, but held that the better rule was that the appointment of a guardian terminated the disability period. The court cited *Stewart v. Robinson*, 115 F.Supp.2d 188, 195 (D.N.H. 2000), which held that such a rule “gives effect to society’s compelling interest in effectively protecting the rights of those who are disabled . . . , while also serving the important interests underlying statutes of limitations.” The same case further holds that this rule serves several interests:

- (1) it protects a ward’s legal rights for an additional two years [one year in South Carolina] after a guardian acquires the legal ability to vindicate those rights;
- (2) it encourages guardians to act in a timely manner to preserve and prosecute claims of the ward, gather relevant evidence, and identify potential defendants; . . .
- and (3) it protects defendants from potentially timeless liability.

115 F.Supp.2d at 197.<sup>23</sup> Other cases to the same effect were cited by the court

---

<sup>23</sup> Plaintiff incorrectly suggests that *Stewart v. Robinson* “contradicts” a prior New Hampshire state court case. However, in that case, the Supreme Court of New Hampshire specifically stated that it was not considering the application of the disability tolling provision., *Coffey v. Bresnahan*, 127 N.H. 687, 694, 506 A.2d 310, 315 (1986).

below. R. \_\_ [Order at 27].<sup>24</sup>

Plaintiff argues on appeal that the other cases cited by the court below should be disregarded, but these efforts are unavailing. Plaintiff argues that *Fox v. Health Force, Inc.*, 143 N.C.App. 501, 507, 547 S.E.2d 83, 87 (2001) is inapposite, but in fact, it was there held that “[o]nce [plaintiff’s] guardian was appointed to represent her interests, the limitation period began to run from the time of the appointment”. The case was subsequently cited as so holding in a later North Carolina case, *Davis v. Sugarman*, 192 N.C. App. 275, 664 S.E.2d 666 (2008). Plaintiff also cites several cases from New York in response to *Hernandez v. New York City Health and Hospitals Corp.*, 78 N.Y.2d 687, 694, 585 N.E.2d 822, 826 (1991) a New York case cited in the Order. However, while those cases distinguish *Hernandez*, none of them overrule it.

The circuit court described the effect of this rule on Plaintiff’s claims as follows:

As applied to the facts of the present case, the appointment of the guardian in June 2005, extended the statute of limitations by one year for all of the older claims. §15-3-40(b). In other words, for any claim for which the statute would otherwise already have run as of June 2005, Mrs. Mims had until June 2006 to bring suit

---

<sup>24</sup> In *Sims v. Amisub of South Carolina*, 408 S.C. 202, 217, 758 S.E.2d 187, 195 (Ct. App., Feb. 12, 2014, certiorari granted, Nov 19, 2014), this Court held that authorities to this effect were “persuasive,” but did not find it necessary to reach this precise issue.

upon such claims. She did not, however, file a lawsuit between June 2005 and June 2006. For any claim for which the statute had not run as of the time of her appointment as guardian in June 2005, she could bring suit on such claims within the time remaining on the statute for such claims, or within one year of her appointment, whichever was longer. This does not add any viable claims to this case in addition to the ones from May and June 2005 discussed above. The next most recent claim is an ant bite incident alleged to have occurred in July 2004. The appointment of a guardian did not extend the time for filing suit on this 2004 claim as far out as May 2008, the time when the present action was served. Absent tolling, the state law action on this claim could have been filed as late as July 2006 (two years after July 2004), while the federal law action on this claim could have been filed as late as July 2007 (three years after July 2004). However, both of these dates were more than a year after Mrs. Mims' appointment as guardian in June 2005, so the tolling statute did not add any time to that which already existed.

R. \_\_\_. In other words, if tolling ended with the appointment of a guardian in June 2005, the only claims not time-barred would be those for the occurrences in May and June 2005.

**d. Statutory periods.**

The applicable statute of limitations for the Section 1983 claims is the three-year statute, §15-3-530(5), as the court below held. R. \_\_\_ [Order at 7], citing *Hoffman v. Tuten*, 446 F.Supp.2d 455 (D.S.C. 2006)(three-year statute of limitations applies to claims brought in South Carolina under 42 U.S.C. § 1983).<sup>25</sup>

---

<sup>25</sup> *Hoffman* involved a claim against federal agents under *Bivens v. Six Unknown*

The applicable statute for the state tort claims is found in the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110. That section, as the court below held, provides for a two year statute of limitations after the “date the loss was or should have been discovered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110. R. \_\_ [Order at 18]. Finally, as to the ADA claims, the court below held that the applicable statute is the one-year statute of limitations found in the South Carolina Human Affairs Law (SCHAL), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-13-10, et. seq. R. \_\_ [Order at 23]. citing *Cockrell v. Lexington County School District One*, 2011 WL 5554811 (D.S.C. 2011) and *Mestrich v. Clemson University*, 2013 WL 842328 (D.S.C. 2013). Plaintiff has argued that these periods should be tolled, but has not taken issue with the fact that unless tolled, they are the applicable periods, except for the ADA claim.<sup>26</sup>

**e. Application of the statute to various claims.**

If the applicable statutes of limitation apply without tolling, as these Defendants have contended, then all of Plaintiff’s claims are time-barred except for the Section 1983 claims relating to the May 27, 2005 penis incident and the now-abandoned June 2005 incident of alleged detention. Conversely, if the five-year

---

*Named Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotics*, 403 U.S. 388 (1971), but the court in *Hoffman* noted that *Bivens* actions are governed by same statute of limitations as § 1983 actions. 446 F. Supp. 2d at 459.

tolling period applies, as Plaintiff has argued, then, as Plaintiff states, the only claims that are time-barred are occurrences prior to May 29, 2000 (as to the three-year statute) and prior to May 29, 2001 (as to the two-year statute). Br. of Appellant at 16 n.8. Plaintiff does not mention the one-year statute for the ADA claims in this part of his brief, but if that statute applies, it would bar any occurrences prior to May 29, 2007.

Set forth below is a discussion of how the statutes would apply if this Court were to accept the circuit court's alternative holdings about the running of the statutes if tolling was present, but ended with the appointment of the guardian in June 2005.

**1. The August 13, 2000 incident.**

The tolling statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40(2), provides that for a person with a mental disability, the operation of the applicable statute of limitations can be tolled for up to five years, or one year after the disability ceases. If the five-year tolling provision applies, as Plaintiff argues, it can be seen that for the August 13, 2000, incident, the respective statutes started to run on August 13, 2005.

As applied to the August 13, 2000, incident, it can be seen that the two-year statute ran out on August 13, 2007, and that any claims under the Tort Claims Act and arising from the August 13, 2000, incident were accordingly barred by the two

---

<sup>26</sup> Plaintiff takes issue with the federal cases on which the circuit court relied in applying a one-year statute to the ADA claim, Br. of Appellant at 61, but cites on authority at all in support of that argument.

year statute.

This leaves the question of whether, assuming that the action was commenced on May 12, 2008, the three-year statute bars the Section 1983 claim against the two individual DDSN Defendants, Butkus and Lacy, based on the August 13, 2000, incident. If the appointment of a guardian for Plaintiff in June 2005 ended the tolling period, leaving the guardian with one more year after her appointment in which to file the action, then Plaintiff had only until August 2006 in which to file the Section 1983 claim. This did not occur, so under this scenario, the Section 1983 claims are time-barred.

## **2. The July 27, 2004 ant bite incident.**

If the appointment of the guardian in June 2005 ended the disability period, the two year statute for this incident ran out on July 27, 2006, and the three-year statute ran out on July 27, 2007. (Both of these dates are more than one year after the appointment of the guardian.) Since this action can only be deemed as having commenced in May 2008, when it was served, then the July 24, 2004, ant bite claim is completely barred by the applicable statutes of limitation.

## **3. The May 27, 2005 penis injury.**

With regard to the unexplained penis injury on May 27, 2005:

- a. The 2008 Amended Complaint was timely for purposes of the three-year statute.
- b. If the appointment of the guardian in June 2005 ended the

disability period, then the two year statute ran out on May 27, 2007. The filing of the unserved original Complaint did not serve to commence the action, as discussed above. The appointment of the guardian in June 2005 did not extend the time for filing this claim, because there was more time remaining in which to file it than would have been created by the one-year extension that was created by the one-year extension under , § 15-3-40(2)(b).<sup>27</sup>

#### **4. ADA claims.**

The ADA claims are stated so vaguely that it is impossible to be sure when they supposedly arose, but since the only specific ADA claim mentioned in the Amended Complaint occurred in 2005, R. \_\_\_ [Amended Complaint, Par. \_\_\_], then the statute for any such claim ran out in 2006. This action was brought well after that.

#### **f. Plaintiff's equitable tolling argument has been raised for the first time on appeal, and in any event is without merit.**

In still another argument made for the first time on appeal, Plaintiff asserts a claim of equitable tolling with respect to the statute of limitations. Under well-settled principles, a contention never asserted to the trial court cannot be made for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 117, 410 S.E.2d 537, 546 (1991). This principle has been specifically applied to

---

<sup>27</sup> To the extent, if any, that Plaintiff has preserved on appeal any contentions about the short delay in his going home on Friday afternoon, June 10, 2005, the same principles apply to that claim as apply to the unexplained penis injury on May 27, 2005:

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